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The “Association des 
Amis du Château de 
Fontainebleau”, es-
tablished in February 
2006, is governed by 
the French  Law of 
1901. Housed in the 
Pavillon des Vitriers in 

the Cour d’Honneur of the château, it comprises 
to date over 1100 members and is administered 
by a Board associating the Heads of specialised 
commissions all of whose members are volun-
teers.

It has several objectives :
Increase public awareness of the history and the 
artistic heritage of the Château of Fontainebleau, 
its gardens and park.
Support the State owned Château of Fontaineb-
leau in organizing events and running educa-
tional activities for young people.
Encourage  patronage initiatives which help en-
rich the collections through acquisitions and take 
part in restoring the architectural and decorative 
heritage of the château and its works of art.

An assessment of its activities is 
highly positive: 
• contribution to hosting the different events 
organised by the château : Night of Museums, 
Festival of the History of Art, European Heritage 
Days.
• organization of numerous conferences on the 
occasion of exhibitions or events inside or out-
side the château ; guided visits of monuments or 
sites with an historical link to the château ; one 
day and 2-3 day cultural outings.
• various publications: a monthly newsletter 
addressed to members ; largely illustrated quar-

terly Bulletins evoking subjects relating to the 
eight centuries of the château’s history and to its 
artistic heritage ; annual dossiers with a deeper 
treatment of historical or artistic subjects leading 
to a better knowledge of Fontainebleau’s herit-
age.

• a constantly updated Internet site  
www.amischateaufontainebleau.fr, open to all, 
informing site visitors of the activities organised 
by the château, or by ourselves, as well as infor-
mation on our publications and on our patron-
age initiatives.

• participating in educational projects  (ac-
tivities and conferences) in collaboration with 
the château, financing the educational site  
www.chateau-fontainebleau-education.fr, rec-
ognized as a « knowledge portal » by the 
Ministry of Education, and available to the 
teachers and organizers responsible for the  
47 000 children who visit Fontainebleau each year.

• supporting Patronage initiatives, either 
from our own resources, or through raising funds 
from our members, or by mobilizing patrons, 
corporate or individual, enabling us to take part 
in restoring works of art or in acquisitions want-
ed by the château.

Through this dossier, the Association wishes to  
better publicize the immense riches of the Châ-
teau of Fontainebleau, a UNESCO World Herit-
age site, and encourage Patronage initiatives 
which contribute to the conservation, the resto-
ration and the enrichment of the décors and the 
collections of this prestigious site.

		  Le Président des Amis, 
		  Gérard Tendron
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Built in the heart of a forest 
teeming with game, on the 
edge of the royal estate and 
close to the capital, the châ-
teau of Fontainebleau has 
an ideal position. It is the 
hunting residence prized by 
Saint-Louis, where Philippe 
le Bel is born and will die. 

This medieval past is swept away by the French 
Rennaissance, to be replaced by the most lovely 
architectural ensemble and the greatest decors of 
what the world of art history will consider – from 
the 1850s onwards - as the School of Fontaineb-
leau. Occupied continuously, transformed, em-
bellished and enriched, Fontainebleau has a spe-
cial place in the hearts of all the sovereigns who 
reigned over France, from the accession of Louis 
VII (Louis le Jeune) in 1137 until the abdication of 
Napoleon III in 1870. Each of the rulers applied 
himself to enhancing the residence of his prede-
cessors. François Ier, Henri IV, Louis XV and Louis 
XVI bequeathed to us the most exceptional artistic 
testimony of their day. After it had been gutted 
during the Revolution, Napoleon I restored and 

refurnished the château, which he considered to 
be the “true home of Kings, the house of ages”. 
Louis-Philippe undertook major restoration work. 
The château as we see it today is, to a large extent, 
the one known by Napoleon III and Eugénie. The 
wide-ranging tastes of the Second Empire gave 
full appreciation to the profusion, the quality and 
the variety of the decorative ensembles created 
in France between the XVIth and XIXth centuries. 
Fontainebleau became a national palace in 1870, 
welcoming Presidents Sadi Carnot and Faure, be-
fore becoming a national museum in 1927. The 
patrimonial importance of the château and its gar-
dens was recognised by UNESCO in 1981 when 
they were added to the list of World Heritage sites.

The Administration of the Château, which in 2009 
became a public institution attached to the Minis-
try of Culture and Communication, aims to make 
Fontainebleau one of France’s major cultural facil-
ities , like its “big brothers”, Versailles, the Louvre 
or Orsay, by pursuing two major objectives: pre-
serving and enhancing this heritage to transmit 
to future generations, and making it accessible to 
the largest possible number of people. To do so, 
the Château has put in place an ambitious cultur-
al programme. Every year, a major exhibition is 
organised for visitors in Spring, followed each Au-
tumn by a theme exhibition dedicated to one of 
the Château’s flagship works of art. Previously un-
visited areas have also been opened to the public: 
the Pope’s apartment, the Chinese Museum and 
the Guest Apartment, between 2007 and 2010; 
Napoleon III’s study and Empress Eugénie’s lac-
quer room, in 2013; the wonderful imperial thea-
tre in 2014, to be followed by the Turkish Boudoir 
of Marie-Antoinette and Josephine. Throughout 
the year, various national cultural events take 

place, such as Museum Night, the Festival of Art 
History or European Heritage Days. Each October, 
on the day of Saint-Hubert, the courtyards echo 
to the cries of the hounds and the sound of the 
hunting horns.The Château is particularly aware of 
the diversity of its public and develops resources 
and programmes adapted to all. The success of 
the Livre des siècles (the Book of ages) a “serious” 
game for tablet computers, enabling the very 
young to discover the château in a different way, 
attests to our great development potential.

In order to pursue its objectives, the château can 
count on the support of the State but it naturally 
needs other partners. As early as the 1920s, John 
D. Rockefeller Junior had grasped the patrimoni-
al importance of Fontainebleau and contributed 
to the restoration of the Belle-Cheminée wing. 
Other patrons followed, including the Emirate of 
Abu Dhabi, Crédit Agricole SA, Rolex, the Herit-
age Foundation or the Friends of the Château of 
Fontainebleau. By means of the restoration of its 
decors, the development of its gardens, the acqui-
sition of works of art, the creation of high-quali-
ty temporary exhibitions, or the development of 
mediation tools, individuals and companies are 
striving to put the Château on the map and to 
enable everyone to benefit from this unique place. 
Supporting the château of Fontainebleau means 
becoming an associate of one of France’s most 
prestigious monuments, a privileged witness to 
the unfolding of the history of France.

Become a patron of the “House of Ages”! •

Jean François Hebert
President of the château of Fontainebleau

Become a patron 
of the “ house of 
ages “

Isidore Patrois. François I grants to Le Primatice the titles 
and revenues of the abbey of Saint Martin. 1865. Oil on 
canvas. Musée de Blois

Léon-Jean Gérôme. The audience of the Siamese ambassadors by Napoleon III in the Ballroom of the château of Fontainebleau, June 27th 1861. Oil on canvas.
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“Fontainebleau is a town situated in the midst of 
forests and surrounded by bare rocks… the châ-
teau is made up of a collection of buildings which, 
having been built at different periods and by 
different sovereigns, seem a confused mixture of 
gothic and modern architecture. Although the var-
ious constructions are unrelated to each other, the 
overall effect is powerful, majestic, superb”. The 

German architect who here gives his first impres-
sions on discovering Fontainebleau  in the middle 
of the XVIIIth century, summarises both the surprise 
and the seduction of the place which today’s visi-
tor still feels when confronting this maze of a châ-
teau intertwoven with  the town in the middle of 
the woods.
No matter which road is taken to approach it, the 

forest in effect precedes Fontainebleau, isolates it 
and in a certain way protects it from the outside 
world. It was most certainly the forest which was 
decisive in the destiny of this royal retreat, initial-
ly a residence for the Capetian kings then the Re-
naissance château which was greatly enhanced by 
François 1’s attachment to it, where he loved to go 
“for the pleasure of the hunt”. But, in fact, although 
the forest did contain large numbers of the “russet 
beasts” needed to satisfy this passion, which was 
shared by all the kings of France, it was first and 
foremost a source of energy, providing what was 
needed for heating and construction. Without the 
forest, the implantation of a large royal château 
would scarcely have been possible. Together with 
the possibilities for transport offered by a naviga-
ble river nearby – the Seine – as well as the pres-
ence of springs, the forest of Fontainebleau is at 
the origin of the vast complex of buildings where 
the French sovereigns would succeed each other 
with remarkable constancy from the XIIth to the 
XIXth century, witnessing their great attachment to 
the place.
At Fontainebleau, the buildings testify beyond 
question to this long presence of the powers of 
the land, and the gentle anarchy of the construc-
tions is the mark of an ancient lineage which re-
fuses to conform totally to any great architectural 
discipline. And yet, the overall effect is extremely 
harmonious, mixing without discord styles and ep-
ochs, pomp and intimacy in this delectable variety 
which emanates from the sediments of a unique 
historical background. Here we should evoke the 
spirit of this place which, despite the sometimes 
radical changes and painful losses which took 
place, made possible those formal connections 
which allow us, even today, to see across the inter-
weaving of periods and tastes that profound unity, 
a very “bellifontain” esthetic, which goes far be-
yond the effects of its famous renaissance décors.
As for the town, it stretches between the royal build-
ings and park to the south and the forest to the 
north. Fontainebleau has long lived, in the same 
way as the château, to the rhythm of the move-
ments of the court. Known as a “Royal Borough” 
throughout the period of the ancien régime, it be-
came administratively independent only in 1790 
when the first mayor was elected, namely Count 
Montmorin who had in fact been governor of the 
château. This very long presence of the court can 
be felt in those buildings spread throughout the 
town whose building materials and façades of-

ten have a family likeness: the water tower, the 
small stables of Louis XV and the barracks for the 
body guards of Louis XVI. Although the XIXth and 
XXth centuries deprived us of some important ev-
idence of this cultural inheritance, many vestiges 
have been preserved, some modest, some quite 
remarkable, and all attesting to the strong inter-
linking between the heritage of town and château. 
The main door of the Hôtel de Ferrare, or the res-
idence of Madame de Pompadour are wonderful 
illustrations of this aristrocratic implantation in the 
royal borough ; they are the natural complement 
to what was a major residence for the sovereigns.
These indissoluble links which unite forest, châ-
teau and town are inscribed in the topography and 
in the history of the place. It is to this balance and 
to the efforts made to protect it that we owe the 
continued existence of the fragile chef d’oeuvre 
which is Fontainebleau. •

Vincent Droguet
Curator general for heritage, Director of heritage 
and of the collections of the château

Fontainebleau, the house of kings

Some information about the 
château and its history

The Association “Les Amis du Château de 
Fontainebleau »  (Friends of the Château of 
Fontainebleau) publishes a richly-illustrated 
quarterly bulletin covering subjects linked to 
the château’s history, its architectural, artistic 
or decorative heritage or recounting the events 
which took place there.
Here we present a certain number of these articles 
written by specialists, mostly heritage curators or 
historians but also by members of the association, 
knowledgeable and enthusiastic amateurs, articles 
which cast a light on the château and its history.

Pierre Paul Rubens, Henri IV entrusts to the Queen the government of his 
kingdom, oil on canvas. Paris, Musée du Louvre.

Aerial view of the château of Fontainebleau and the gardens
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Fontainebleau: 
an estate and  
a château for  
the hunt
In the XIth century, Robert the Pious acquired 
lands in the forest of Bière where he enjoyed hunt-
ing, and there he had built a hunting lodge which 
was the origin of the château. Up until the time of 
Napoleon III, most sovereigns stayed at Fontaineb-
leau, enlarging both the château and their wood-
ed estate. They went stag hunting, shooting and 
hawking. Hunting was not simply for the King’s 
pleasure, but was also a mark of his prestige and 
an invitation to take part was considered  a signif-
icant privilege.
The château still bears witness to this taste for hunt-
ing : the Galerie des Cerfs ( Stags’ Gallery), which is 
decorated with scenes from the big hunting estates 
and trophies of stags from the royal “laisser-courre” 
when the hounds were unleashed, the galerie de 
Diane and the garden of the same name, the hunt-
ing apartment, with the large painting by Oudry 
showing Louis XV hunting at Franchard and the 
King’s dogs painted by Desportes, the painting by 
Denis in the galerie des Fastes depicting Louis XIV 
driving his own four-horse carriage which he used 
when hunting at Fontainebleau.
The hunt has left its mark in particular on the for-
est: the star-shaped crossroads and the circular 
roads constructed to facilitate the view and the 
movement of the hunt;  the Route Ronde, built 
so that the ladies of the Court could follow in 
their coaches, and the 800 km of bridle paths; 
the crosses which marked the crossroads for the 
hunt’s “search and relay”, the names (carrefour du 
Grand-Veneur, route du Bien-aller, de la Curée, de 
la Retraite, de l’Hallali, de Diane...), the signs of 
rearing pens and shooting (Faisanderie, Grand-Par-
quet, parquet d’Avon, Montigny...).
The high density of game needed to satisfy the 

king’s “pleasure” had a negative impact on forest 
regeneration , “nibbled away” by the stags, the roe-
deer, the rabbits, so that very soon it was necessary 
to “trellis” plots which had been regenerated or 
planted. The damage caused to adjacent crops by 
the game and by the passage of the hunt led the 
kings to grant the inhabitants of bordering parish-
es the customary rights such as forest pasture for 
cattle. This led to the forest remaining sparse and 
so in the XVIIIth and XIXth centuries reafforestation 
took place on a large scale and the Scots pine was 
introduced.
The dossier being prepared on this subject will  
illustrate the rich episodes of the common history 
uniting the château and the forest. •

Gérard Tendron
Former Director General Office National de la chasse	
(National Hunting Agency)

The term “School of Fontainebleau” was first used 
at the beginning of the XIXth century by the Aus-
trian art historian Adam Bartsch. At first this name 
was employed to define a group of prints pro-
duced from the compositions of Italian artists who 
worked at Fontainebleau. However, from the mid-
dle of the XIXth century what had simply been a 
convenient classification ended up designating the 
work of Italian painters in Fontainebleau.   At the 
beginning of the XXth century, the works which 
Louis Dimier devoted to  Primatice would help es-
tablish this notion of the School of Fontainebleau 
while the famous 1972 Exhibition at the Grand 
Palais, entitled “The School of Fontainebleau”, 
would consecrate  this artistic phenomenon as one 
of the essential visual arts  movements of the XVI 
th century.  At the same time that Bellifontain dec-
orative arts were becoming better known, renewed 
by the 1960’s restoration work, a distinction be-
tween two “Schools of Fontainebleau” appeared: 
the first School concerned the work of Rosso and 
Primatice and his rivals, and a second School was 
defined by the works begun at the time of Henri 
IV at Fontainebleau by Ambroise Dubois, Martin 
Fréminet and Toussaint Dubreuil.  Rosso (1494-
1540) and Primatice (1504-1570), who arrived in 

France in 1530 and 1532 respectively, were the 
two principal protagonists of this first School of 
Fontainebleau.  

The decor of the gallery François I, begun in 1532 
and designed by Rosso, made a new and original 
ensemble, mixing painted fresco scenes and stucco 
frames placed over sculpted and partially gilded 
wood panelling. The paintings, despite showing 
signs of wear, still bear witness to the Florentine 
painter’s style, at once scholarly and violent, trou-
bled and sensual. This originality and this vivacity 
are carried into the stucco relief which frames and 
comments upon the fresco panels.  Their repertoire 
of decorations never before seen in France, consist-
ing of lively cherubs, heavy cascades of fruit, large-
as-life human and mythical figures, and above all, 
the famous “leather” relief motifs stand out as the 
most spectacular element of the gallery’s decor.

While Rosso directed the work on the gallery  
François I, Primatice was entrusted with the dec-
oration of the King’s chamber on the first floor 
of the Saint Louis Keep, and with that of Queen  
Eléonore’s chamber, also known as the François I 
salon. Of these two important decorative ensem-
bles, there remains only the chimney mantelpiece 

The First School  
of Fontainebleau

Barthélémy Prieur. Diana the Hunter. Bronze 1602. Galerie des Cerfs, 
Château de Fontainebleau

The king’s dogs. Galerie François I, Château de Fontainebleau

Rosso Fiorentino. The elephant with fleurs-de-lis. Fresco.1537. Galerie François Ier. Château of Fontainebleau
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Alexis Peyrotte  
or The Graces of the Rockery
He gave his masterpiece to the Chateau of Fon-
tainebleau, and yet he remains little known, if not 
unknown. In 1753, however, working on the dec-
oration of the Council Chamber, Alexis Peyrotte 
distinguished himself as one of the most active 
of the artists. Though at the request of Monsieur 
de Vandières (the director of Buildings to the King 
and younger brother of Madame de Pompadour) 
François Boucher was contracted to paint the five 
imbedded ceiling canvases depicting Sunrise 
« le Lever du Soleil » as well as the Four Seasons, 
and  Carle Vanloo and Jean-Baptiste Marie Pierre  
to produce the blue and pink cameo allegorical 
figures, Peyrotte was awarded all the ornamental 
work on the panelling of the room: grotesques, ar-
abesques, landscapes, and still-lifes. On the ceiling 
as well as the walls are found garlands, festoons, 
and armloads of multi-coloured flowers, interlaced 
vegetation or even symbols of music, hunting, 
sailing or fishing. All this delicate colouring fills 
the free spaces of the panelling and corresponds 
to the elegant sculptured curves conceived by  
Jacques Verberckt.  In the oval passage provided 
for the King to pass between the Council Cham-
ber and his chamber and in the King’s First Valet’s 
small room ( also known as the “Brûle-Tout”, “Burn 
all”, since seemingly  the papers were burnt there 
after the council meetings), Peyrotte also covered 
the woodwork with colourful exotic birds and 
flowers.
An ornamentalist of genius, whose multiple talents 
were particularly sought after by many contem-
porary art lovers, Alexis Peyrotte brought with his 
brush, within the most luxurious interiors, an or-
namental grammar entirely dedicated to nature. 
Emblematic of a certain French elegance, this style 
of ornamentation gradually disappeared, replaced 
by other motifs borrowed from the classical rep-
ertoire. Today these decorations, preserved at the 
Chateau of Fontainebleau and in some private 
houses of the town, invite us to learn more about 
their author. •

Xavier Salmon
Heritage Curator

in the Queen’s former room showing how much 
the ideas of Primatice owed to those of Giulio 
Romano.  From 1540, at the death of Rosso, Pri-
matice became the “Master of Fontainebleau”.  He 
continued to create decors for François I which 
have now largely disappeared: those of the bath 
chamber, the lower gallery  or again those of 
the King’s room.  However, the decoration of the 
chamber of the Duchess of Etampes, done around 
1541, is a testament to the activity of Primatice 
at the end of the reign.  If the decorative princi-
ple and the formal repertoire which preside in this 
room are manifestly  born of the experience of 
the François I gallery, the large recumbent stucco 
figures betray the influence of Parmigianino on 
Primatice and  greatly attest to the climate of sen-
suality which characterizes the creations of this first 
“School of Fontainebleau”.

After the death of François I in 1547,  Primatice 
continued under Henri II to be granted large or-
ders for the decoration of Fontainebleau.  In the 
Ulysses gallery, a vast space one hundred and fif-
ty metres long occupying all of the the first floor 
of the south wing of the Cour du Cheval Blanc, 
Primatice had already been commissioned by 
François I to paint the vault with motifs of gro-
tesques and mythological scenes.  At the begin-
ning of the decade (1550), he was  to  illustrate 
the history of Ulysses on the walls of the gallery, a 
considerable task which led him to engage the tal-
ents of another Emilian painter, Nicolò dell’Abate, 
who arrived in France in 1552.

The whole of the Ulysses gallery, only  completed 
under Charles IX, was no doubt  the most admired 
and best known by artists and art lovers.  Unfor-
tunately it disappeared in the reign of Louis XV, 
but a number of drawings and engravings as well 
as rare painted copies allow us to glimpse  the 
impression of virtuosity and charm of these com-
positions.

On the other hand, the painted decor of the ball-
room is still visible, albeit very marked by succes-
sive restorations. In this vast hall, originally con-
ceived as a loggia, the scenes painted by Nicolò 
dell’Abate based on designs by Primatice essen-
tially occupy the corner-pieces of the arcades. The 
subject matter, in keeping with the functions of 
this ballroom and banqueting hall, turn around 
the themes of music, dance and feasts, but all of 
a Platonian philosophic essence, exalting Love, 
Harmony and Concord. This very ambitious decor 

differs however from that of the François I gallery 
or those of the chambers of the King, the Queen 
or the Duchess of Etampes in abandoning the 
stucco mouldings which marked the originality 
of the previous groups. Despite the considerable 
disappearances and obvious disparities, these cre-
ations of the first School of Fontainebleau, share a 
common aesthetic and a coherent style.  The in-
ventive capacity of Rosso, an artist who without 
doubt occupies the most advanced place among 
the best of the Manierists, has marked the spirit of 
Fontainebleau considerably. Primatice, less radical,  
more adaptable, but no less gifted, and having an 
undeniable talent for narration, shifted this trend 
towards a sensuality of style that was more like-
able. From 1540 onwards, engravers like  Léon 
Davent, Antonio Fantuzzi or Pierre Milan diffused 
these scholarly compositions with their recumbent 
figures in artfully exquisite poses throughout Eu-
rope, but above all it was the abundant decorative 
repertoire of the gallery stuccos which appears in 
hindsight to be the most original contribution of 
the first School of Fontainebleau. •

Vincent Droguet
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Les Amis du Château sont attristés par la dispari-
tion, le 25 février, de Colombe Samoyault-Verlet. 
Ils savent tout ce que le Palais de Fontainebleau 
lui doit, à elle et à son mari, M. Jean-Pierre  
Samoyault, quand ils en furent les conservateurs 
pendant presque trois décennies, réorganisant 
les espaces et donnant au château son visage 
d’aujourd’hui. Avec passion et compétence, 
Colombe Samoyault-Verlet a œuvré pour l’en-
richissement et l’exposition des collections. A 
leurs deux noms, s’attachent, en particulier, l’ou-
verture du Musée Napoléon Ier en 1986, et la 
restauration du Musée Chinois de l’Impératrice 
Eugénie en 1991.
Rigoureuse, experte, respectée, elle fut aussi un 
inoubliable professeur à l’Ecole du Louvre où 
elle a contribué à former plus d’un conservateur  
actuellement en poste. Qui, encore aujourd’hui,  
dans la charge de présenter une pièce ou un ob-
jet du château, ne se référerait à ses cours pour 
vérifier un détail ? 
En souvenir de sa présence à Fontainebleau et 
des restaurations entreprises sous sa direction, 

Le jardin de Diane, anciennement appelé le 
Jardin de la Reine ou Jardin des Buis, autant 
que les bâtiments qui l’entourent, a subi de 
profondes transformations depuis sa création. 
C’était primitivement une sorte de terrain va-
gue dépendant du couvent des Mathurins. Vers 
1528, cet espace fut organisé en jardin 
pour la mère de François Ier, Louise 
de Savoie, dont un cabinet récem-
ment crée donnait sur ces ar-
pents, et surtout pour Cathe-
rine de Médicis en 1540 : 
Un parterre à quatre com-
partiments orné des statues 
de bronze que le Primatice 
avait fait mouler à partir de 
1541, qui alterneront, plus 
tard, avec des buis et des 
orangers, comme on le voit 
sur la gravure de 1679 d’Is-
raël Sylvestre
Au centre, Henri II fit installer un 
cadeau du pape Paul IV : une statue 
de Diane  en marbre blanc surmontant une fon-
taine, vraisemblable copie d’une Artémis à la 
biche athénienne du IVème siècle av J.C, qu’accom-
pagnaient quatre chiens. Henri IV, par souci de 
préservation, la fit transporter au Louvre, et rem-
placer par un premier bronze, lui même remplacé 
par un second, provenant du château de Marly. 
Le socle et les quatre chiens, furent restaurés en 
1964, selon le dessin original de Francini.

La première École
de Fontainebleau 

Les grandes fêtes
p.4
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Mieux connaître…

Le terme d’Ecole de Fontainebleau fut utilisé pour la 
première fois au début du XIXe siècle par l’historien 
d’art autrichien Adam Bartsch. Cette appellation ser-
vit d’abord à définir un groupe d’estampes exécutées 
d’après des compositions dues aux artistes italiens 
qui travaillaient à Fontainebleau. Toutefois, dès le mi-
lieu du XIXe siècle, ce qui n’était qu’une commodité 
de classification finit par désigner les réalisations des 
peintres italiens à Fontainebleau. 
Au début du XXe siècle, les travaux que Louis Dimier 
consacra à Primatice contribuèrent à asseoir cette no-
tion d’Ecole de Fontainebleau tandis que la fameuse 
exposition du Grand Palais en 1972, intitulée L’Ecole 
de Fontainebleau, devait consacrer ce phénomène 
artistique comme l’un des courants essentiels des arts 
visuels au XVIe siècle. 
En même temps que s’affinait la connaissance des 
créations du foyer bellifontain, renouvelée par le 
résultat des restaurations menées dans les années 
1960, apparaissait la distinction entre deux « Ecoles 
de Fontainebleau » : une première Ecole désignant 
les créations de Rosso, de Primatice et de ses émules, 
et une seconde Ecole définie à partir des œuvres éla-
borées à Fontainebleau sous Henri IV par Ambroise 
Dubois, Martin Fréminet et Toussaint Dubreuil. 
Rosso (1494-1540) et Primatice (1504-1570), arrivés 
en France respectivement en 1530 et en 1532, furent 
les deux principaux protagonistes de cette première 
Ecole de Fontainebleau.
Le décor de la galerie François Ier, commencé en 
1532 et conçu par Rosso, constituait un ensemble 
d’une conception inédite, mêlant des scènes peintes 
à fresque et des encadrements en stuc se déployant 
au dessus d’un lambris de bois sculpté et partielle-
ment doré. Les peintures, malgré leur état de dé-
gradation, témoignent encore du style du peintre 
florentin, à la fois savant et violent, inquiet et sen-
suel. Cette originalité et cette vivacité se communi-
quent aux stucs qui encadrent et commentent les 
panneaux peints à fresque. Leur répertoire décoratif 
inédit en France, constitué de putti vivement animés, 
de lourdes chutes de fruits, de figures humaines ou 
fabuleuses grandes comme nature, et surtout de ces 
fameux motifs de « cuir » découpé, s’impose comme 
l’élément le plus spectaculaire de tout le décor de 
cette galerie. 
Tandis que Rosso dirigeait les travaux de la galerie 
François Ier, Primatice était chargé du décor de la 
chambre du roi, au premier étage du donjon de saint 
Louis, et de celui de la chambre de la reine Eléonore, 
actuel salon François Ier. De ces deux ensembles dé-
coratifs importants ne subsiste plus en place que le 
manteau de cheminée de l’ancienne chambre de la 
reine qui montre combien l’invention de Primatice 
était encore tributaire de celle de Giulio Romano. 
A partir de 1540, à la mort de Rosso, Primatice de-
vint le « maître de Fontainebleau ». Il continua de 
créer pour François Ier des décors pour la plupart 
disparus : celui de l’appartement des bains, celui 
de la galerie basse, ou encore celui du cabinet du 
roi. Toutefois, le décor de la chambre de la duchesse 
d’Etampes, exécuté vers 1541, témoigne encore de 
l’activité de Primatice à la fin du règne. Si le principe 
décoratif et le répertoire formel qui président dans 

Vincent Droguet 
Vincent Droguet, conservateur en chef 
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Fontainebleau depuis 1995. 
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l’Histoire de l’art de la Renaissance et 
l’Histoire de l’architecture occidentale 

à l’Ecole du Louvre

cette pièce sont manifestement issus de l’expérience 
de la galerie François Ier, les grandes figures de stuc 
au canon allongé trahissent l’influence de Parmesan 
sur l’art de Primatice et attestent plus largement du 
climat de sensualité qui caractérise les créations de 
cette première Ecole de Fontainebleau.
François Ier mort en 1547, Primatice continua sous 
Henri II à recevoir de grandes commandes décora-
tives pour Fontainebleau. Dans la galerie d’Ulysse, 
vaste espace de cent cinquante mètres de long oc-
cupant tout le premier étage de l’aile sud de la cour 
du Cheval blanc, Primatice était déjà intervenu sous 
François Ier pour peindre à la voûte des motifs de 
grotesques et des scènes mythologiques. Au début 
de la décennie 1550, il allait représenter l’histoire 
d’Ulysse sur les parois de la galerie, tâche considé-
rable qui lui fit s’adjoindre les talents d’un autre 
peintre émilien, arrivé en France en 1552, Nicolò 
dell’Abate. L’ensemble de la galerie d’Ulysse, termi-
né seulement sous Charles IX, fut sans doute le plus 
admiré et le plus connu des artistes et des amateurs. 
Il a malheureusement disparu sous Louis XV, mais 
nombre de dessins et de gravures ainsi que quelques 
rares copies peintes permettent d’entrevoir l’impres-
sion de virtuosité et de charme envoûtant qui devait 
émaner de ces compositions.
Le décor peint de la salle de Bal, en revanche, est 
toujours visible bien que très marqué par les restau-
rations successives. Dans cette vaste salle, conçue à 
l’origine comme une loggia, les scènes peintes par 
Nicolò dell’Abate sur les dessins de Primatice occu-
pent essentiellement les écoinçons des arcades. Les 
sujets, qui s’accordent aux fonctions de cette salle 
de bal et de banquet, tournent autour des thèmes 
de la musique, de la danse et des festins, mais se 
rattachent tous à un programme savant, d’essence 
platonicienne, exaltant l’Amour, l’Harmonie et la 
Concorde. Ce décor très ambitieux se différencie 
cependant de celui de la galerie François Ier ou de 
ceux des chambres du roi, de la reine et de la du-
chesse d’Etampes, par l’abandon du rôle des stucs 
qui constituait la principale originalité des ensembles 
précédents.
Malgré des disparitions considérables et des dispa-
rités évidentes, ces créations de la première Ecole 
de Fontainebleau participent d’une esthétique com-
mune, d’un style cohérent. La capacité inventive de 
Rosso, artiste qui occupe sans doute la position la 
plus avancée parmi les premiers acteurs du Manié-
risme, a considérablement marqué l’esprit de Fontai-
nebleau. Primatice, moins radical, plus souple, mais 
non moins doué et possédant un indéniable talent de 
narrateur, infléchit cette tendance vers un art d’une 
sensualité plus aimable. 
Les graveurs comme Léon Davent, Antonio Fantuzzi 
ou Pierre Milan ont diffusé dans toute l’Europe, dès 
les années 1540, ces compositions savantes, aux 
figures allongées, aux attitudes artificieusement re-
cherchées, mais surtout ce répertoire décoratif foison-
nant issu des stucs de la galerie qui apparaît avec le 
recul comme l’apport le plus original de la première 
Ecole de Fontainebleau.

Vincent Droguet

Le  vieux château des ”déserts de Fontainebleau”, une fois métamorphosé  en palais à l’italienne,  fut, au cours 
du XVIème siècle,  le théâtre de fêtes d’une magnificence toute royale, dont nous rappellerons ici les plus 
fameuses.

Colombe Samoyault-Verlet 

Un nouvel arbre 

Hommage à

Une nouvelle verte

Le Roi François 1er qui avait été à l’initiative de 
la transformation du château, s’est plu à y rece-
voir toute l’Europe, et notamment son ennemi 
de vingt ans, Charles Quint à qui il réserva une 
réception éclatante à Noël 1539. L’Empereur, en 
route pour les Pays-Bas où grondait la révolte, 
aurait mieux aimé davantage de discrétion, mais 
comme le passage par la France était le plus court 
chemin pour gagner les Flandres, il se résigna à 
accepter les fastes de l’hospitalité offerte par son 
”bon frère”. C’est lors de ce séjour, semble-t-il, 
que François Ier inaugura le rite, devenu par la 
suite immuable, de la visite guidée : tirant de sa 
poche la clé de sa galerie récemment achevée, 
il en  fit les honneurs en commentant lui-même 
les peintures qu’elle contenait. Comme il fallait 
offrir aux visiteurs des sources d’émerveillement 
ininterrompues, une attraction étonnante avait 
été prévue : la fontaine lumineuse, dorée, instal-
lée sur l’eau, d’où jaillissaient, en haut, du feu, 
en bas, de l’eau et du vin ! Toutefois, si ingé-
nieux qu’en fût le mécanisme, quand la surprise 
cessa d’en être une, elle perdit son attrait et fut 
détruite.

Leurs Majestés - la ”Très Chrétienne” et la ”Très 
Catholique”- assistèrent aux offices solennels de 
la Nativité, puis le roi de France procéda à la cé-
rémonie des écrouelles, comme à chaque  grande 
fête de l’Eglise. Après quoi, combats équestres, 
chasses, festins, bals se succédèrent jusqu’au 
départ des deux souverains. Ils embarquèrent 
à Melun le 30 décembre, dans une somptueuse 
gondole chauffée et tapissée de fourrures, tandis 
que les nobles seigneurs, gentes dames et tout le 
personnel de la suite royale gagnaient l’étape de 
Corbeil par voie de terre dans des conditions de 
confort infiniment plus précaires!

François Ier vieillissant se donna par la suite le 
plaisir d’organiser deux événement heureux 
dans sa demeure de Fontainebleau : en 1544, le 
baptême de François, fils aîné du dauphin Henri 
et de Catherine de Médicis et en 1546, celui de 
leur fille aînée, Elisabeth. Que Fontainebleau ait 
été choisi pour cadre de ces fêtes est bien signe 
de la faveur dont jouissait la résidence : car quoi 
de plus important pour un monarque sentant 
sa mort prochaine que de célébrer la venue au 
monde de ceux qui assurent la perpétuation de 
sa lignée ?

Autre événement mémorable qui a laissé des 
traces dans les annales du château de Fontaine-
bleau : le carnaval de 1564. 

Charles IX, âgé d’à peine quatorze ans, était 
à l’aube de son règne. Sa mère Catherine de 
Médicis avait pris la décision de l’emmener 
avec toute la Cour, dans un ”tour de France” 
qui officiellement, permettrait au jeune Roi 
de connaître son royaume. En réalité, ses buts 

étaient multiples et, entre autres, il s’agissait 
de divertir les grands seigneurs - catholiques 
et huguenots - qui seraient du voyage, tout en 
gardant l’œil sur eux. La Reine Mère, en effet, 
mesurait la fragilité de la paix assurée par l’édit 
d’Amboise promulgué quelques mois plus tôt.

La 1ère grande étape et les derniers préparatifs - qui 
durèrent 43 jours - eurent lieu à Fontainebleau, 
point de rendez-vous de tous les participants. 
Entre le 6 et le 15 février, se déroula une folle 
semaine de réjouissances magnifiques, offertes, 
tantôt par les Grands, tantôt par les membres de 
la famille royale : 
festins, concerts 
d’instruments et 
de voix, repré-
sentations théâ-
trales dont les 
acteurs étaient les 
princes et prin-
cesses, combats 
à pied, à cheval, 
fêtes nautiques, 
mascarades. On 
donnait aussi des 
divertissements à 
thème et à grand 
spectacle (on au-
rait bien envie de 
parler de ”super-
productions”): il y 
eut en particulier 
un château en-
chanté gardé par des diables, avec des demoi-
selles prisonnières dans une tour, que le Roi et 
Monsieur son frère après avoir lutté à la pique 
et à l’épée contre deux chevaliers, finissaient par 
délivrer ! Après quoi, la tour avait flambé et volé 
en éclats à grand vacarme.

Notons que c’était la première fois que Catherine 
de Médicis autorisait ses fils à être acteurs dans 
un de ces jeux guerriers où leur père avait laissé 
la vie.

Ronsard, prince des poètes, faisant  fonction de 
poète des princes, écrivit, à l’occasion de ces di-
vertissements, des intermèdes en vers dans les-
quels il ne ménage pas flatteries et compliments, 
exaltant l’essence divine du pouvoir royal, cé-
lébrant les vertus de la famille du monarque : 
celles du père (défunt), de la mère, encore très 
influente, du jeune roi auquel il prédit un ra-
dieux avenir de pacificateur. Il n’oublie pas le 
frère, qui sera le soutien fidèle de son aîné. Nous 
dirions aujourd’hui que le poète était chargé de 
la promotion d’un pouvoir constamment mena-
cé, mais ses prophéties résonnent étrangement 
pour nous qui connaissons la suite de l’histoire !

Anne Gaffard

nous avons choisi, parmi de nombreux travaux 
d’érudition, de rendre accessible aux Amis un 
bel article relatant la restitution de la soierie de 
la chambre de l’Impératrice. Illustré de photos 
récentes, il montre le magnifique travail qui a 
abouti à redonner à cette pièce, à ces meubles, 
leur éclat incomparable. 
Il peut être consulté sur le site internet des Amis 
du Château, ou demandé, en version papier, au                                                     
Pavillon des Vitriers.

C’est autour de cette fontaine que fut réorganisé 
le jardin en 1812, dans le style pittoresque cher 
à Napoléon. Des allées ondulantes sont créées, 
des arbres apparaissent, remplaçant les buis, les 
orangers et les parterres de broderie : des pins 
sylvestres, récemment introduits en France, des 

ormes, peut-être des hêtres, si présents dans 
la forêt, comme en témoigne le décor 

de l’assiette du « service historique de 
Fontainebleau » qui date de 1842 . 

 Et sous Napoléon lll sont plan-
tés les trois hêtres pourpres 
(fagus purpurea) qui lon-
gent l’allée Denecourt, et les  
fagus sylvatica près du Bassin. 
L’un d’eux, plus que séculaire 
présentant des risques pour la  
sécurité (traces d’écorces in-

cluses amenant à des ruptures 
verticales du tronc) a dû être 

abattu. Il vient d’être remplacé par 
un jeune sujet, un hêtre fagus silvatica 

asplenifolia, correspondant mieux, dans 
un esprit de restauration, aux arbres utilisés au 
XVIIIéme siècle dans l’ensemble des jardins.
Il voisine avec un jeune sophora japonica, planté  
récemment, dont les ramures nacrées répondent 
aux délicates ferronneries des fenêtres des deux  
boudoirs de Marie-Antoinette : raffinement ex-
trême que n’auraient renié aucune des reines qui 
aimèrent tant ce jardin.

Hélène Verlet

Sources : 
Patrick Daguenet,  
Hélène Boscheron 
Musique et fêtes 
La Seine et Marne au rythme de 
Paris (Presses du Village 2006 )
Victor E. Graham and W.Mc 
Allister Johnson, 
The Royal Tour of France by 
Charles IX and Catherine de 
Medici, 
Festivals and Entries 1564-6 
(University of Toronto Press 
1979)

Les soieries de la chambre 

de l’Impératrice 
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Le Primatice. Alexander taming Bucephalus. Fresco surrounded by stucco 
caryatides and cherubs. Around 1541-1544 Chamber of the Duchess of 
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Alexis Peyrotte. Detail of panelling. Passage between the Council Chamber 
and the King’s chamber. 1754. Château of Fontainebleau
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A group of around  forty members on a visit to  the Musée Marmottan had the privilege of meeting Madame 
Maria Teresa Caracciolo, curator of the exhibition “Napoleon’s sisters. Three Italian destinies” who gave them 
a wonderful presentation of Elisa, Pauline and Caroline in all their pomp and glory. But on April 20th 1814  
“ at the time of abdication and exile” , what became of those three women with their strong personalities, 
what became of the family of the fallen Emperor? Madame Cariacciolo-Arizzoli-Clémentel, art historian and 
researcher at the CNRS, who graciously agreed to become a  Board Member of our Association, sets out here 
the tragic rupture of the siblings, divided between loyalty and breakdown, between moving away and keep-
ing silent. Our warmest thanks go to her.

During his stay in Fontainebleau in April 1814, 
Napoleon was separated from his wife, his beloved 
mother and his brothers and sisters (who were, no 
doubt, rather less loved but whose presence at 
his side at all the crucial moments of his life he 
had always insisted on). And yet, his brothers and 
sisters were not far away and all were thinking of 
him, their concern for his future depending on the 
various and contradictory relations which bound 
them.

In 1939 in his Sternstunden der Menschheit  
( Decisive Moments in History), Stefan Zweig, a 
dedicated admirer of Napoleon I, devoted an 
essay to the Battle of Waterloo. In it he underlined 
an issue which to him seemed paramount in 
explaining the fatal defeat of the French camp: 
namely the absolute but short-sighted loyalty 
of Maréchal de Grouchy, who, rather than 
contravene an order from the Emperor, continued 
to pursue a phantom force of retreating Prussian 
soldiers instead of turning back to join the French 
army on the field of Waterloo. Had he done so, 
the army would have received the assistance 
it needed and the outcome of the battle would 
have been changed (as, Zweig added, the destiny 
of Europe and its peoples would have been 
changed). But that fatal order had been given by 
Napoleon himself and was therefore sacred in the 
eyes of a soldier such as Grouchy; a little more 
independence of mind, the ability to say no and to 
act for once according to his intuition, his feelings 
and the wise advice of those around him would 
have saved the Emperor and made de Grouchy 
a hero. But the capacity to disobey at the right 
time and for the common good is not given to 
everyone.

Napoleon’s brothers and sisters were often 
confronted by this same dilemma, particularly at 
those times in their lives when they were called 
upon to reign over the Empire’s satellite States, 
when they shared both the prestige and the 
vagaries of the extraordinary path taken by the 
head of the family. It was in obedience to an order 
from the Emperor that his older brother, Joseph, 
who had reigned over Naples (fortunately for 
him) and over Spain (unfortunately for him) found 
himself in Paris in that fateful month of March 
1814. In January, as he was leaving to rejoin the 
army for the final campaign of France, Napoleon 
had appointed him Lieutenant General of the 
Empire, alongside the Regent Empress Marie-
Louise and the King of Rome. The Emperor gave 
him a specific order : under no circumstances must 
his wife and child fall into the hands of the enemy. 
On March 28, with Paris under siege by the allied 
armies, Marie-Louise, who wished to remain in the 
capital with her son, convened the Regency Council 
and was reminded by Joseph of the Emperor’s 
order : to do everything to prevent his wife and 
his son from being captured. No-one would 
consider opposing the will of the Emperor. And so 
Joseph, Madame Mother (who had stayed in Paris 
with her eldest son, her daughter-in-law and her 
grandson), Marie-Louise and the King of Rome 
left the Tuileries for Blois, where they were joined 
some time later by Queen Hortense, then by the 
Emperor’s youngest brother, Jérôme, the deposed 
King of Wesphalia. Shortly after the imperial family 
had left, the allied coalition entered Paris. It was 
at the Préfecture in Blois that Marie-Louise learned 
of the events which followed, right up to the 
abdication in Fontainebleau. Deeply troubled and 
fearing for the future of her son, as well as for her 
own, the Empress begged her husband to allow 

Fontainebleau:  1st-20th april 1814: 
the absent ones      As Curator of the Château de Fontainebleau since 

2004 and 19th century specialist by training and 
by inclination, my particular, although not exclu-
sive, interest is for the Empire period. In fact  Fon-
tainebleau’s singularly rich history and the traces 
left  by all the dynasties which were rooted there 
prompt us to examine the whole history of France 
which can be read like a book, with page upon 
page of architecture, countless paragraphs of dec-
oration and infinite lines of furnishing.
I am particularly delighted by the acquisitions 
which have been made, as they are an essential 
part of history itself: for example the drawing by  
F. Dumoulin ‘Les Adieux de Napoléon à son armée’ 
(Napoleon’s farewell to his troops), Girodet’s 
painting ‘Napoléon en souverain législateur’, the 
Buste du Roi de Rome by Ruxthiel or the juniper 
album ‘Souvenirs de Fontainebleau’, all purchased 
between 2005 and 2007.
At the moment my most pressing task is to pre-
pare the exhibition “King Jérome-Napoléon. A 
French prince on a German throne”. This young 
brother of Napoleon ruled over Westphalia, that 
short-lived and ostentatious kingdom which was 
fashioned by war and swept away by the sword.
Although it is difficult for me to choose one object 
in particular, I would like to mention the Livre du 
Sacre ( the Coronation Book), which brings together 
original drawings and engravings of the coronation 
ceremonies on 2nd December 1804. Here is the re-
flection of the pomp of the infant Empire and the 
proof, since it took from 1805 to 1815 to complete, 
that all things which are well done require time.” •

Christophe Beyeler
Heritage Curator

The coronation book
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demonstrated the most touching loyalty towards 
the fallen sovereign. The preserved corner of 
the Midi where they were staying was the scene 
of a moving reunion between brother and sister.
Napoleon had arrived in Luc decked out in an 
Austrian uniform, which he had donned in Orgon 
in an attempt to avoid the hostility of the crowds. 
Pauline made him take it off and put on again 
a French uniform, this time that of the Guide of 
the Old Guard. And finally it was to Pauline that 
Napoleon chose for the very first time to talk openly 
and explain the choices he had made. Brother and 
sister agreed to meet on the island of Elba and this 

time, the fickle Pauline kept her promise. At that 
time, Elisa, the oldest of Napoleon’s sisters, was 
not far away : she was staying between Aix and 
Marseille, where she had gone following a long 
stay at the château de la Piscine in Montpellier, 
where she had been welcomed at the start of 
her French exile, following the fall of the Grand-
Duchy of Tuscany. But following the abdication at 
Fontainebleau, she had left Montpellier for fear 
of violence and reprisals. She was pregnant and 
deeply upset by the loss of the Grand-Duchy, but 
her intentions were clear when she wrote to her 
friend Fouché : “All is lost. I will never live on the 
island of Elba […]”. From then on Napoleon’s 

most intelligent (and toughest) sister wished to 
live in exile in Rome, beside her mother, Lucien 
and a few other members of the family who had 
placed themselves under the protection of the 
Pope. All she was granted was to find asylum in a 
frontier town in northern Italy, Trieste, where she 
died, before Napoleon, in August 1820.

Of the members of the imperial family, only 
Caroline, the youngest of the sisters, had the 
temerity openly to oppose the Emperor. That 
happened during the winter and spring of 1814. 
Having signed an alliance with Austria, the Murat 

sovereigns were able to keep their kingdom and it 
was in Naples that Caroline learned of the fall of 
Napoleon. With her husband, she had ascended 
to the throne of Naples in 1808 and she had 
every intention of staying there and subsequently 
handing it on to her eldest son, Prince Achille 
Murat ; but, as we know, fate was to decide 
otherwise. •

Maria Teresa Caracciolo
Art Historian, Director of Research CNRS

Legend page 12 : François Gérard. Caroline Bonaparte with her children. 
Oil on canvas 1810. Château of Fontainebleau. 
Pages 14 and 15, from left to right : Hortense, Jérôme, Joséphine and Joseph

her to join him in Fontainebleau. However, rather 
than encouraging this idea, Napoleon suggested 
she should entrust herself to her father, François, 
Emperor of Austria. No doubt through pride but 
also through a genuine wish to affront alone  the 
trials of abdication and exile ( and perhaps even 
the ultimate trial of death), Napoleon did not ask 
his mother or his brothers, who were with his wife, 
to come to him. In those circumstances, the wishes 
which he expressed must have had the validity of 
an order. Marie-Louise complied : she met her 
father in Rambouillet and soon afterwards left for 
Austria with her son. Napoleon would never see 

them again. Madame Mother decided to leave 
for Rome, together with her half-brother, Cardinal 
Fesch ; there she met up with her son Louis, ex- 
King of Holland who had been out of public life 
since 1810. As for Joseph, he left for Switzerlend 
to retire to the family home at Prangins while 
Jérôme joined his wife and began with her a life 
of exile spent between Berne, Gratz and Trieste. 

Of all of Napoleon’s brothers, only Lucien would 
perhaps have been able to follow his feelings  
and force his way into Napoleon’s presence in 
Fontainebleau, despite his wishes. But at that time 
Lucien was far away : his resistance to his eldest 

brother’s wishes and orders  had put an end to his 
political career from the time of the Consulat and 
had forced him into exile in Italy. Having decided 
to move even further afield, he had set off for the 
United States but had been captured at sea and 
taken hostage by the English. From 1810 he lived 
in Thorngrove in Worcestershire and was unable 
to return to the continent until after the abdication 
in Fontainebleau. However, the fall of the Empire 
marked the beginning of the reconciliation 
between the two brothers : at the time of the 
Hundred Days, Lucien joined Napoleon in Paris 
and remained at his side until Waterloo. During 

the journey which was to take him to the island of 
Elba, Napoleon met his sister, Pauline in the south 
of France. In the spring of 1814, Princess Borghèse 
was spending her time between Nice and the spa 
town of Gréoux : roads which had been cut during 
the war prevented her from leaving the area. It 
was at the château of Bouillédou, near Luc, where 
she was the guest of the physician Charles that 
she heard the news of the fall of the Emperor. 
She decided to wait there to see her brother as he 
passed through  on his way into exile. Napoleon 
arrived in Luc in the afternoon of April 26th and 
spent the night at the château of Bouillédou. This 
wayward sister, greatly marked by misfortune, 
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Following the proclamation of the Second Empire 
on 2nd December 1852, Napoleon III attempt-
ed to re-establish the pomp of a sparkling court 
whose calendar gradually came to be fixed around 
the different places where the imperial family re-
sided according to the seasons. The Sovereigns left 
the Chateau of Saint-Cloud for Fontainebleau in 
May or June for fairly brief stays in the early days 
- from four to eight days - then later in the 1860s, 
for longer periods of up to two months. It should 
however be pointed out that the Emperor took  
leave from time to time to be present at military 
exercises in Chalons en Champagne in July, or to 
take the thermal waters in Vichy and later Plomb-
ieres in August.  The Empress Eugénie remained 
in Fontainbleau with her son, her ladies-in-waiting 
and her entourage during these absences, up until 
the month of September.

For the imperial family, Fontainebleau was rather 
like a holiday location, since they tried to lead a 
simple and relaxing lifestyle there, far from the 
etiquette of the Tuileries or of Compiegne. On the 
other hand, the absence of large parties could 
make the days and certainly the evenings boring 
for the small group of guests, even though a visit 

from a sovereign or a foreign prince would  break 
the monotony. In 1857, the courtiers were invit-
ed to the oval courtyard at night to witness the 
ceremony of the stag being given to the hounds 
by torchlight, which was the culmination of the 
great hunt, organised in honour of the Tsar and 
the Grand Duke of Russia. Certain events were 
particularly striking, such as the reception for the 
ambassadors of Siam on 27th June 1861: visitors 
were even invited to come and admire «the treas-
ures brought by the King of Siam» as part of their 
visit to the private apartments.

Outside the reception periods, the  courtiers were 
entertained  by improvised games, like that of the 
miller, which consisted of searching for a ring, 
hidden in  flour, without getting covered in it, or 

by simple dances to popular arias such as «La Bou-
langère» or «Sur le Pont d’Avignon.» Sometimes 
even a small ball would be arranged to the accom-
paniment of a barrel organ or a mechanical piano, 

since Napoleon III did not want too prestigious an 
orchestra, which could ruin the atmosphere.... Lat-
er in the evening they would move on to board 
games : amusing charades - often thought up by 
Octave Feuillet, the librarian, or lotteries during 
which the Emperor himself would call out the 
numbers, so as to have the pleasure of rewarding 
the winners with the prizes which he had bought 
during his shopping trips in the town, essentially 
«souvenirs of Fontainebleau»  (engravings and ob-
jects in Juniper wood). At the end of the evening, 
the Empress would enjoy tea in the Chinese draw-
ing room with her maids of honour and a few cho-
sen guests. As it was the height of summer the 
heat could be stifling: they would open the win-
dows, risking attack by «horrible little insects». It 
was then easier to have cushions  brought so that 
they could sit simply on the steps of the Gabriel 
Pavillion and take advantage of the freshness from 
the pond.

Although the courtiers could walk in the gardens, 
the pond offered more possibilities for outdoor 
amusements. To that end, they had a small flo-
tilla brought with sailors from the imperial fleet.  
In 1863, the newspaper «Le Sport» counted four 

boats on the «Carp Pond»: a Therapia caique (a 
Turkish flat-bottomed boat), an Egyptian felucca, 
a small Greek craft and a Venetian gondola. This 
last vessel was the most prestigious, with its or-

nate curtained cabin where four people could sit 
on comfortable benches.  A lantern made naviga-
tion at night possible, much loved by the Empress 
Eugénie, even at the risk of frequently losing her 
voice..

On the pond, the courtiers could simply go row-
ing, or even, with curious floats attached to their 
feet, navigate using paddles. This amusement was 
not to everyone’s taste, such as Prosper Mérimée  
who complained in a letter dated June 21, 1860:  
«it is a very poor preparation for sleep to spend 
three or four hours in tight trousers, rowing on the 
lake and getting a terrible cough».

Despite the splendour of the parties at the Tuileries 
or at Compiegne, the Court visits to Fontainebleau 
had a particular charm, characterised by simplicity 
and above all a change of scenery: the courtiers 
could escape from etiquette and even get away on 
excursions into the forest or short cruises on the 
Seine. •

Jean-Claude Polton
Doctor in History

The Second Empire in the Château 
The Court of Napoleon III in Fontainebleau   

Charles Maurand. The Court at Fontainebleau, the ornamental pond. Gouache. 1863. Château of Fontainebleau

La curée aux flambeaux dans la cour ovale. Gravure. Château de Fontainebleau

Carcass thrown to hounds by torchlight in the oval courtyard. Engraving. Château of Fontainebleau
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The  double apartment known as the « Pope’s 
Apartment » on the first floor of the Queen Moth-
ers’ wing, extending from the upper vestibule of 
the chapel of the Trinity to the Gros Pavillon and 
the stuccoed stairway, is designed to achieve har-
mony between the furniture, the tapestries, and 
the sumptuous ceilings of the XVI, XVII and XVIII 

centuries. The suite of rooms within the apartment 
of Louis XV -  so called because of the work carried 
out by A.-J. Gabriel for the King’s daughters - was 
reserved for the use of Stephanie de Beauharnais, 
grand-duchess of Baden (1824-1860), a cousin of 
the Empress Josephine. The apartment includes the 
« salon d’angle » (Corner Room) with its ornamental 

gilt corniche. Opening onto the « etang aux Carpes 
» (Carp pond) and the « cour de la Fontaine » (Foun-
tain Court), the reception room was furnished in the 
Louis XV gilded wood style by Jeanselme in 1859. 

A large tapestry hangs on the north wall, to the 
right of the fireplace, beneath the 
gilt mouldings. It belongs to the 
hangings known as those of the 
« galerie de Saint-Cloud » (the  
St Cloud Gallery)

In 1677-1678 Pierre Mignard cre-
ated the decoration of the vault 
of the Apollo gallery for Phillipe 
of Orleans (brother of Louis XIV). 
The vault occupied the north wing 
of the chateau of Saint-Cloud. The 
artist divided the surface area 
into compartments : in the centre 
« Apollo, god of the day » is in 
homage to the King. This figure 
was framed by large scenes de-
picting the four seasons. Above 
the entrance, Mignard placed « 
the birth of Apollo », while at the 
other end, where the windows al-
low a view of the Seine, we see « 
Apollo instructing the Muses on 
Parnassus ». This decor, created 
shortly before the Gallery of Mir-
rors at Versailles, was particularly 
praised by Louis XIV.

This exceptional ensemble was to 
give birth to a six-part tapestry. 
At the end of the XVIIth  century, 
the financially troubled Gobelins 
factory received the backing of 
Louvois; he had woven versions 
made of the large painted decors 
or the most antique tapestries in 
the royal collections. In 1686 he 
ordered for Louis XIV a version of  
Mignard’s decor in wool, silk and 
gold thread. The wall hanging 
was completed by the atelier of 

Jean Jans in 1689. The borders were patterned af-
ter the models supplied by Blin de Fontenay. Three 
signs of the zodiac were placed in medallions at the 
centre of the borders of the pieces illustrating the 
Seasons while musical symbols stamped on foliage 
surround the piece representing  Parnassus. Two 
other hangings were created sometime afterwards.

The first tapestry of the St Cloud Gallery was hung 
at Versailles in 1789 before being consigned to stor-
age on the 22nd of Fructidor, year II (revolution-
ary dating). Four pieces went to Fontainebleau in 
1859. Taken down to be safe-guarded during the 
First World War, they were replaced in 1920 by two 
hangings from the Old Testament.

In June 2008, thanks to the heritage initiative of the 
Mobilier National (national furniture office), three 
pieces were rediscovered : « Spring », represented by 
the marriage of Zephyr and Flora, and « Summer », 
illustrating a sacrifice in honour of Ceres, have been 
placed in the Officers’ salon. « Parnassus » with its 
graceful retinue of Muses hangs in the salon d’An-
gle.

The Gobelins tapestry is an exceptional illustration 
of the decor under which the civil marriage of Na-
poleon Ist and Marie-Louise was celebrated. Con-
sidered to be one of the most important painted 
decors of the XVIIth century, it was destroyed during 
the fire at  the château de Saint Cloud in 1870.

The return of the three tapestries constitutes not 
only a new phase in the restoration of the Pope’s 
Apartment as it was in the Second Empire – and 
let us venture the hope that this will be followed 
by the reweaving of the fabrics for furnishings and 
draperies - but also an indication of Napoleon III’s 
personal liking for the château Saint-Cloud. •

Vincent Cochet
Heritage curator

At the urging of Napoleon III, the decor of the Chateau of Fontainebleau was the object of major restoration 
and some of its furniture replaced.

The château during the second empire
the wall hangings in the st cloud gallery from pierre mignard

From Pierre Mignard.  
Wallhangings in the Saint Cloud Gallery. Apollo, god of the day and Apollo instructing the Muses. 1686. Pope’s apartment. Château of Fontainebleau
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When you are in la Cour de la Fontaine ( the Foun-
tain Court), your attention will be taken by a plaque 
at the foot of the stairway in the Belle Cheminée 
wing, and, on the assumption that you get close 
enough to read it, you will find that « …JOHN D. 
ROCKEFELLER JR made a major contribution to 
the restoration of the Palace of Fontainebleau from 
1925 to 1931,...». A lovely story begins.
One of the richest men in the world, the Ameri-
can industrialist John Davison Rockefeller Jr., came 
with his wife to spend a holiday in France in 1923. 
The couple, who were highly appreciative of French 
art, found a France bled dry and a château in Fon-
tainebleau in a pitiful state. On the 3rd of May 
1924, they sent a letter to President Poincaré, an-
nouncing a generous donation for Versailles, Fon-
tainebleau and Reims.
The works in Fontainebleau were entrusted to the 
Chief Architect of the Palace, Albert-Louis Bray.  Ac-
cording to the wishes of the donors, they concerned 
the security of the structures, their protection against 
fire and their repair. Let us look more closely at the 
Belle Cheminée wing, where the work done was 
visually spectacular. A surprising photo shows the 
state of the buildings before Bray’s work: a facade 
without a roof, as though it had been scalped. 
Although this was not widely known, the Belle 
Cheminée wing, sometimes called the « Charles IX 
» wing or the “Ancienne Comédie” wing because of 
the small theatre which Louis XV had set up in it, 
burned down in 1856. At that time, Napoleon III 
had already commissioned Hector Lefuel to build 
an imperial theatre in the Louis XV wing which was 
almost completed. A flat roof temporarily replaced 
the roof which had gone up in flames and in 1924 
it was in danger of collapse. Here we should pay 
tribute to Albert-Louis Bray for his remarkable work. 
He was the man of the situation, working with intel-
ligence, efficiency, taste and respect for the château.
Albert-Louis Bray (1884-1959), graduate in archi-
tecture in 1909, Second Prize of Rome, called to 
arms 1914, was appointed in August 1919 to the  
Service des Bâtiments Civils et Palais Nationaux (Of-
fice of Public Buildings and National Palaces), first 
as  Architect of the Palace of Fontainebleau and lat-
er, in August 1922, as Architect in Chief. He lived 
in the pavillion des Vitriers! As early as 1920 he 
was also appointed  to the Service des Monuments 

Historiques (Office of Historic Monuments).
We are faithfully following the article written for the 
Friends of Moret in the revue Culture and Patrimony 
n° 199 by his son, Jean-Paul Bray, in 2010.
In June 1924, Albert Bray submitted his proposals 
to the Franco-American committee. The works be-
gan only in 1927, after a second donation! He was 
to spend 1.889.000 francs on the restoration of  the 
Belle Cheminée wing out of a total of 3.610.000 
francs allocated to Fontainebleau. 
The roof of la Belle Cheminée had been more “com-
pound” and more monumental than its neighbours.  
“ It was, in fact, like the whole of the facade of this 
building in la Cour de la Fontaine, the work of le 
Primatice, and one of the rare examples left to us in 
France of the Italianate architecture of this celebrat-
ed decorator.”
The restoration was done with the help of old pho-
tographs, documents and accounts. On the side of 
the Cour de la Fontaine, the large central dormer as 
well as the lateral ones were remade in their orig-
inal state. On the side of the Parterre gardens, the 
dormers were restored and the facade, whose con-
struction was weak, was returned to a good state of 
repair. It was strengthened with reinforced cement 
posts set into the wall of the first floor, uncovering 
inside the “interesting XVIth century capitals which 
supported the arches of the vaults.” The beams and 
joists of the roof were redone in reinforced cement, 
its ceiling “supported by posts resting on the sand-
stone corbels which originally supported those of 
the belle cheminée ceiling”, all of which helped to 
restore the overall aspect of the room. The restora-
tion was completed with the positioning of replicas 
of the bronze statues of Hercules, Apollo, Mercury and 
Venus, originally made at the time of François I, in the 
four niches of the cour de la Fontaine facade – the 
only example in France of bronze statuary in niches..
Let us leave Jean-Louis Bray to conclude with the 
words of his father: “The reconstruction of this 
handsome ensemble (...) restores the traditional 
look to la Cour de la Fontaine and to all the build-
ings overlooking the Parterre and the Pond and so, 
Fontainebleau recovers its full integrity.”•

Michèle Saliot
Member of the editorial committee

Photograph early XXth century

The fire of 1856

XVIIth century engraving

The Belle Cheminée wing
The Rockefeller donation and Albert Louis Bray 1927 to 1931

Dear Friends and Patrons of the Château, is it 
not fitting that our first thought should be to pay 
homage to John D. Rockefeller who, in the 1920s 
was the pioneer of the patronage system? The de-
scendants of that great American family have not 
forgotten his generous donation to the château of 
Fontainebleau. And so, when David Rockefeller 
came some years ago, he was resolved to end his 
long stay with a visit to the plaque commemorat-
ing  the action of his forefather. 

Our château, with its incomparable weight of his-
tory, has always attracted visitors, who over recent 
years, have also been drawn by the many tempo-
rary exhibitions of all kinds.

And yet there was a time, a time which lasted 
much too long, when, because of insufficient State 
subsidies,everything seemed to show a slow aging 
and decline: the fading of wall coverings,  curtains 
in tatters, frescoes from the School of Fontaineb-
leau eclipsed beneath the inept painting- over 
carried out in the XIXth century.The list of disasters 
would be long!

At last, at last! The dawning of the Vth Republic 
saw the arrival of André Malraux, the energetic 
Minister for Culture. Fontainebleau was to be-
come one of his priorities. Thanks to the vast 
programme which was undertaken, the frescoes 
of Rosso and le Primatice emerged from the 
shadows; the brocades, damasks and velvets were 
re-woven, Marie-Antoinette’s remarkable mother-
of-pearl furniture was returned to its original set-
ting; Napoleon’s inner apartment and the Chinese 
Museum so beloved of Empress Eugénie were re-
stored… not to mention the creation of a wonder-
ful museum devoted to Napoleon I and his family.

Our château, an inexhaustible resource for explor-
ing history, only needs to see its tired decor re-
stored to its original freshness and to recover the 
rich collection of objects which during the course 
of time have so often been lost.•

Yvonne Jestaz
Art Historian

looking back…
From John D. Rockefeller  
to Andre Malraux
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Although more than 400 years old, it was only 
in 1812 that the jeu de paume (real tennis) court 
took on the aspect that we know today.
Since  long paume is played outside (open air ten-
nis), it was for the court paume (court tennis) that, 
on the 10th of April 1601, King Henri IV made a 
contract with Rémy Collin for the construction of 
a court the floor of which to be paved with large 
baked clay tiles “with an area of plaster underneath 
to make it drier and more responsive to the ball.”
A century later, a violent fire broke out on the 
night of the 8th-9th of August 1702 and, in order 
to protect the chapel and the apartments, it was 
preferred to direct the fire towards the jeu de 
paume, destroying the roof covering and timbers.     
Renovation work did not take place until 1732 en-
abling play to take place until the Revolution. 
In 1807, in the middle of the German campaign, 
the Emperor had a message sent to the Intendant 
Général of his Household : “the jeu de Paulme should 
be restored so that one may play during HM’s voyage.  
Paulmier players have offered to recondition it for 3000 
francs and to maintain play there financed by expenses 
which will be paid by the players.” But this major work 
will not be completed until 1812.  The contractors’ 
accounts deal essentially with carpentry, the re-
placement of the outside staircase by the current 
inside staircase, painting, including the imperial 
arms in the middle of the ceiling, and metal work.
This very ancient court has seen the game itself 
evolve. It began as a noble, royal activity which 
one began very young. Thus, Herouard notes how 
the eldest son, the Dauphin, on February 2nd 
1607, at the age of five and a half, « volleys, plays 
a backhand ; it’s the first stroke and well played .» 
The lords and the King play to be admired, espe-
cially by the ladies, and the court is entertained 
by watching them. But after 1675, real tennis 
becomes a professional show. Saint Simon writes 
that Louis XIV “liked to enjoy himself in Fontaineb-
leau, when the weather was bad, watching the 
great Paume players play, where he himself had 
excelled in the past .» The financial stakes are high 
and large bets are placed.

The situation does not change much in the XIX 
century. The courtiers play but mostly with real 
tennis players from Paris and these matches are 
one of the attractions when the Court is in resi-
dence. When it disappears after 1870, certain 
regulars obtain a concession for the game in the 
name of their company “ Le Sport de Fontainebleau”.     
The State, however, retains the right to dispose of 
the room and the local press refers to numerous 
events: banquets, prize ceremonies, charity con-
certs... the sale of wood.
Having been a reeducation room during the Great 
War, after 1921 the court became a concert hall for 
the American Schools of Art who invited great musi-
cians, notably Maurice Ravel and Leonard Bernstein.
But, thanks to demand, the Jeu de Paume court 
is being used again as it was initially, first of all 
in 1990 through being “simply” put back into ser-
vice by Bernard Colette, then in 2001 by Jacques 
Moulin who restored it as it was in 1812. The slate 
roof and the ceilings and woodwork have been re-
stored, a more “historical” brown has replaced the 
green colour of the tiles and the arms represented 
on the ceiling have been restored. The inaugura-
tion took place on the 12th September 2001 in 
the presence of Prince Edward, a sign of how the 
jeu de paume, known there as “real tennis”, has 
stimulated an increasing interest in English-speak-
ing countries. There are only two other courts in 
France – in Paris and Bordeaux; there are 300 reg-
istered players, of whom 60 in Fontainebleau, half 
of them young players.
In 2008, the Cercle du Jeu de Paume de Fontaineb-
leau was host to the World Jeu de Paume Cham-
pionship, a game created in this court in 1740. •

Serge Ceruti
University Associate Professor 

There have since been a number of events 
and you can follow what’s happening 
in the club on their Facebook page: 
CercleDuJeuDePaumeDeFontainebleau or by 
contacting the maître paumier :  
ericdelloye@wanadoo.fr.

Real Tennis
The Jeu de Paume court  
in Fontainebleau

Extract from the catalogue of the Exhibition “Game of Kings, King of 
games, Jeu de Paume in France” p 147. Real tennis – solo! - match 
around 1760  FFT photo: Eric della Torre.

Cross sections and plans of the buildings to the 
East and North of the Jardin de Diane, Château of 
Fontainebleau, with indication of the main features, 
including the Jeu de Paume
Photo: RMN Château de Fontainebleau) / Gérard 
Blot / 1812  ink (drawing), wash, pen (drawing)
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Patronage with the Friends of the Château patronage initiatives  
by the friends of the château

Miniature of the King of Rome 1

Gift from Mr Michel d’Halluin, member of the 
Friends of the Château, of a miniature depicting 
the King of Rome wearing the légion d’honneur. 
This miniature was given to the Château de Fon-
tainebleau and is now part of the collections. It 
is in good company in room 9 of the Napoleonic 
Museum, in the glass cabinet devoted to the Duke 
of Reichstadt. The Friends of the Château have put 
together a booklet giving some historical informa-
tion about the French years of the King of Rome, 
this infant prince who remains largely unknown…

Print  “l’Arc de Triomphe”		
At the auction on 2nd October 2011, the Friends 
of the Château were able to purchase  a print  
« l’Arc de Triomphe » which was presented to the 
president of the Château, Jean-François Hebert, at 
the General Assembly on Saturday 5th November 
2011. 

Restoration of two maps of the forest of 
Fontainebleau			 
In 2012-2013 the SAMCF (Association of Friends 
and Patrons) and the Friends of the Forest launched 
a subscription campaign for the restoration of two 
maps of the forest of Fontainebleau. Many of the 
Friends made donations and today the two maps 
are in the study of Napoleon III so they can be 
presented to the public.
One of these maps, made for the hunting trips  of 
Louis XV, shows the general plan of the forest of 
Fontainebleau in 1752. The other is dated 1865.

Restoration of an armchair for the library 
of Napoleon Ist

Through the purchase of a quantity of mahogany, 
the SAMCF participated in the work of restoration, 
which was undertaken by the Ecole Boulle. Work-
ing under the supervision of two people in charge 
of the carpentry and restoration workshops, the 
students devoted the whole of their academic year 
to the restoration of this complex piece of furniture 
and also validated their final  diplomas in métiers 
d’Art.

The Friends of the Château also has the objective 
of seeking out financial support from its members 
and partners network on behalf of various opera-
tions for the Château of Fontainebleau:
• �acquiring works of art to add to the Châ-

teau collections
• �restoring décors, works of art and objects 

in the collections
• �participating in events organised by the 

Château
• �accompanying the Château in promoting 

its activities.
At the moment, our donor and patron friends 
benefit from a particularly advantageous tax treat-
ment described below :  thanks to a tax deduction 
on personal income tax or corporate tax, patrons 
can take part in improving collections or in the 
renovation of this exceptional site, classified as a 
UNESCO World Heritage site.   They are thus able, 

at a reduced cost thanks to a generous tax treat-
ment, to give their support to cultural develop-
ment. Please do not hesitate to contact us regar-
ding any form of patronage : 

contact@amisdefontainebleau.org
Tél. +33 (0)1 64 23 58 46
www.amischateaufontainebleau.org

As a patron, you can benefit from a tax re-
duction of 66% of the amount of your gift, 
for any operation you choose to accompa-
ny, up to a limit of 20% of your annual 
taxable income. (Any surplus can be carried 
forward for up to five years.) 
Example of the cost of patronage  
for an individual: 
for a gift of €1000, an individu-
al receives a tax credit of 66%, 
i.e. €660 and the net cost to 
the individual of this patron-
age is thus €340. 
With your gift you partici-
pate in the history of the Châ-
teau of Fontainebleau and stand 
alongside the Patron-Kings who 
cared so much for this residence. 

Each gift counts, however small. 
Your gifts are a contribution, sup-

porting our effort to conserve and 
enhance this world heritage which 
is above all yours. As someone who 

has a love for heritage, history and 
gardens, you have a love for the Châ-

teau of Fontainebleau and wish to 
take an active part in its devel-

opment. Help us to preserve 
and value the “House of the 
Ages”!
As soon as the Association 
receives official recognition 
as being of “utilité pub-

lique” (probably in 2015), it 
will be able to receive donations 

in kind and legacies, in addition to 
gifts by hand (don manuel).

The benefits of Patronage 
for Individuals

2

3

4

1

2 3 4
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Educational site of the château		

Every year the SAMCF makes a financial contribu-
tion to the development of the pedagogical site of 
the château de Fontainebleau. In 2011 this finan-
cial help was made possible thanks to a subsidy 
from the Conseil Général de Seine-et-Marne. Fur-
ther information:

www.chateau-fontainebleau-education.fr

Rendez-vous in the gardens 2010
Financial contribution from the company VEOLIA 
Environment to encourage the participation of 
more professional artists and to enhance the qual-
ity of the events during the “Rendez-vous in the 
gardens” organised by the Château de Fontaineb-
leau.

Prints				  

In October 2013, the Friends of the Château pres-
ent the château of Fontainebleau with 5 prints (gift 
of Bruno Grandjean), a most welcome addition in 
the preparation of an exhibition devoted to the 
troubled relations between Napoleon and Pope 
Pious VII. The first three depict Pope Pious VII’s 
visit to France in 1804 when he came to Notre 

Dame de Paris for the coronation of Napoleon I. 
The other two are rather cruel caricatures showing 
the incomprehension of the Army when the Em-
peror abdicated in April 1814.

Restoration of a Louis XV (1750) chest of 
drawers of the Regency period lacquered  
in “Martin varnish”       
For the opening of the Furniture Gallery on July 
1st 2009, the generous donators of the Friends of 
the Château de Fontainebleau, wishing to restore 
this exceptional piece of furniture to its former glo-
ry, contributed to the financing of its restoration. 
Following the delicate work of restoration, the res-
titution of the chest of drawers was the subject of 
a conference given on Saturday 11th June 2009 to 
the donators of the SAMCF  by Yves Carlier, curator 
of the Château.

The chest can be seen as one of the 80 pieces of 
this exceptional collection which makes up the Fur-
niture Gallery of the Château de Fontainebleau.

Restoration of the Pavillon de Vitriers
The ground floor of the Pavillon des Vitriers was 
previously used as official accommodation for the 
staff of the château. The complete refurbishment 
which was undertaken thanks to two donors, the 
Millet company, (who totally renovated the paint-
work, woodwork and electricity) and the local 
branch of the Crédit Agricole, meant that the SAM-
CF was able to operate from within the château 
itself. The renovated apartment was transformed 
into a meeting room, where the Board and Oficers 
can hold regular meetings, and a reception area 
which can accommodate all the Friends of the Châ-
teau. There is also a more convivial room which 
can be used for special meetings. Don’t hesitate to 
come along and meet us…

Grand Chamberlain’s Dress        
2014 : The Friends of the Château participated in 
the purchase at public sale of a Grand Chamber-
lain’s dress. This rare example of the ceremonial 

dress of the senior civil officers of the Emperor’s 
household was probably ordered either for the cor-
onation of Napoleon I in 1804 or for the Emperor’s 
marriage to Marie-Louise de Habsbourg-Lorraine 
in 1810. The dress is made of amaranth coloured 
silk velvet, decorated on the cuffs, tails and collar 
by silver thread embroidery, cannetille, worked 
paillettes and spangles with a design of palms and 
palm leaf motifs. It will join the collections of the 
Napoleon Ist Museum.

Other initiatives since 2006 :
Subscription to the restoration of Marie-Antoi-
nette’s Turkish boudoir  
Acquisition of items for the exhibition “Tourism in 
Fontainebleau”
Acquisition of engravings
Financing of the catalogue for the exhibition  
“ Jérome, King of Westphalia”

You, too, can be part of such initiatives 
by helping in the restoration of 
our heritage. Do come and join us, 
become patrons of the château de 
Fontainebleau…
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Current financial legislation allows a corporate patron gifting the Friends of the  Château to benefit from 
a company tax credit equal to 60% of the gift up to 0,5% of its turnover. If this limit is exceeded, the 
surplus can be carried forward for up to five years.

Furthermore, a corporate patron can benefit from 
advantages in communications and public rela-
tions valued at 25% of the gift amount: for ex-
ample, being associated in the publicising of ex-
hibitions and the presentation of restored works 
or collections, provision of prestigious welcome or 
hospitality areas in public relations initiatives, or-
ganising internal events in the company, featuring 
the company name in the presentation of exhibi-
tions, areas or work restored etc.
The overall benefit for a corporate patron is thus 
85% of the gift amount. Sponsorship arrange-
ments can also be envisaged.

Visibility
The wealth of artistic programmes and the renown 
of the château offer numerous publicity opportu-
nities to companies willing to be Patrons :
• associating the company name and image with 
a high prestige monument to a large, and notably 
international  public (over 450 000 visitors a year)

• participating, each year, in nationally and in-
ternationally renowned events and exhibitions 
(History of Art Festival, organising a large exhi-
bition etc.) and contributing to the development 
of the heritage: acquiring a major work, cultural 
events, concerts..
• meeting at a vernissage or opening, in a con-
text of dialogue and exchange, with partners 
(companies, public bodies), colleagues, and cus-
tomers , taking advantage of the Château’s recep-
tion rooms
• forming part of a dynamic network of national 
and international partners : Chambers of Industry 
(CCI) of Seine-et-Marne, major French and interna-
tional Patrons, loan and exchange of works of art, 
co-productions with major museums
• building and strengthening a network of part-
ners and clients around a prestigious event, facili-
tating a privileged cooperation.

Restoration of the corner room 
(salon d’angle) Pope’s apartment
On the south side of the Gros Pavillon, the 
corner room (le salon d’angle) of  Pope Pius 
VII’s apartment overlooks the Carp Pond and its 
pavillion on the pond. Sucessively royal then papal 
and imperial apartments, this series of rooms 
witnessed the decisive periods that make up the 
historic richness of Fontainebleau. The salon 
d’angle, a room which was greatly valued during 
the Second Empire, was furnished as a reception 
room by Napoleon III for the use of guests of the 
imperial family and in particular for Madame de 
Beauharnais, the cousin of the Empress Josephine.
The vast dimensions of the room were made more 
comfortable by the addition of textiles. In order to 
return it all to its former glory, there needs to be  
a general restoration of the imperial furniture and 
more brocatelle woven for the curtains and seat 
covers. Estimated cost : 250,000e VAT incl.

Decorative trim of the 
ployant stools in the grand 
salon of the Empress
At the heart of the Empress’s apartments, the 
Grand Salon, which became the assembly and 
games room, acquired some major pieces of 
furniture in gilded wood, dating in part from the 
Consulate and from the first years of the Empire.  
Prominent among these pieces are twenty-four 
ployant ( backless) stools, the work of  the Parisian 
master-joiner Jacob-Desmalter. The ployant was 
the only seat authorised for the women of the 
court in the royal and imperial residences. They 
were to be found in the anti-chambers and in  the 
official reception rooms. They were returned to 
their original state by the refitting of covers and 
trim in 1971 and in 2011; seven of the twenty-
four already have their gold fringe. In order to 
present the ployants with all their trimming intact, 
the château of Fontainebleau plans to apply the  
fringe trim still missing on the last seventeen 
ployants.
Estimated cost : 150,000e VAT incl.

Examples of major patronage projects  
proposed by the château  

The benefits of Patronage   
for Companies

These candelabra were made and installed in the 
ballroom at the request of King Louis-Philippe for 
the civil wedding of his elder son to the Princess 
of Mecklembourg, on 30th May 1837 at eight in 
the evening. As we know, this civil wedding was 
followed by a Catholic wedding  celebrated in 
the Chapel of the Trinity, followed by a Protestant 
ceremony in the salle des colonnes. 
The global cost of restoring the eight 
candelabra is 50,000e VAT incl. Or restoration 
of individual pieces is also possible.

Restoration of the eight  
candelabra installed  
in the ballroom
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Restoration of the pavillon 
de l’etang
An octagonal “room on the water” was built in 
1662 by Louis Le Vau at the request of Louis XIV 
to serve as a counterpoint to the formal gardens 
created by André Le Nôtre. Proudly overlooking 
them and  accessible only by water, this haven of 
peace and freshness offers a stunning and intimate 
view of the château. This emblematic construction, 
which contributed to the pleasure of successive 
sovereigns, reflects the soul of the château which 
Napoleon called “the house of ages” .  
The last great period of the pavilion belongs to 
the Second Empire, when the Empress Eugenie 
had it furnished to accommodate her guests in 
comfort. It had deteriorated by the end of the 
XVIIIth century when it was partially restored by 
order of Napoleon Ist. Today, it is again in need 
of restoration to make it structurally solid and to 
restore its imperial sparkle. 
Estimated cost : 626,000e VAT incl.

Restoring the frigate of the 
Imperial Prince
The only child of Napoleon III and Empress 
Eugénie, Napoléon Eugène Louis Jean Joseph, 
the imperial prince, was greatly cherished. 
The Emperor wished to teach him the basics of 
navigation and ordered a frigate to be made for 
him.The vessel was built by the naval dockyards at 
Brest and presented  to the young prince in 1863 
for his seventh birthday.
From the banks, the imperial couple could follow 
the movements of this sailing toy, which was 
reserved exclusively for the prince, who learned 
the rudiments of navigation with Napoleon III’s 
flag-lieutenant, commander Duperré. This 
imposing imperial toy is a complex construction 
worthy of the highest quality ship-fitting. Its 
planned restoration will allow this unique and 
hitherto unknown object to be preserved and then 
unveiled to the general public. 
Estimated cost : 250,000e VAT incl.

Restoring the draperies in the 
passage way,  small  apartments 
of the Empress
The Waiting Room for the Ladies-in-Waiting of 
the Empress is situated on the ground floor of 
the château, in the middle  of the string of rooms 
known as  les Petits Appartements de l’Impératrice 
(the small apartments of the  Empress), intimate 
spaces where the  constraints of etiquette were less 
apparent than in the state rooms on the first floor. 
These areas were furnished for Josephine from 
1807 by order of Napoleon Ist. This room served 
as a boudoir between the Yellow Room and the 
Empress’s bathroom, where her ladies-in-waiting 
could gather while waiting to take up their duties.
The two windows and the rear wall were adorned 
with crossed draperies: one of white and the 
other of orange taffeta, both trimmed with green 
silk which picked up the damask of the chairs. 
Depending on the time of day, the effects of 
tranparency and colour created infinite variations 
of brightness in the room.
The draperies were lost during the work done at 
the time of  the Second Empire. Replacing them is 
a major element in the presentation of the room 
in its First Empire finery.
Estimated cost : 75,000e VAT incl.

Restoration of the draperies 
in the hunting apartment
Overlooking the Oval Courtyard, the hunting 
apartment was visited by the emblematic figures 
of the history of France, from the grand dauphin, 
brother of Louis XIV to the young imperial prince, 
the only son of Napoleon III and Empress Eugénie.
It ows its name to work carried out in the XIXth 

century when the wood panelling was decorated 
with paintings of game. The furniture in each room 
was chosen for the child of the imperial couple and 
today  the château of Fontainebleau is the only one 
which presents the furnishing which the young 
prince would have known The draperies, which 
matched the furnishing, unfortunately suffered 
from the ravages of time and it is now essential to 
restore them. Restoring these lengths of  lampas, 
gold thread and chiné taffeta materials will extend 
the circuit of the grands appartements and plunge 
the visitor into the reality of the everyday life of a 
young prince at the court of France.
Estimated cost : 40,000e VAT incl.

More informations :  
Eric Grebille, responsible for patrons and partnerships
Tél. +33 (0)1 60 71 57 92 /+33 (0)6 87 40 14 34
eric.grebille@chateaudefontainebleau.fr
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The Association the Friends of the Château of Fontainebleau would like to express their sincere 
gratitude to the generous Patrons who have made this publication possible:

Caisse Régionale Brie-Picardie Crédit Agricole
The Association Crossroads in Fontainebleau responsible for this edition in English
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